EDITORIAL:                                                 OPEN THE SECRETS
Since time immemorial the mass graves have remain a phenomenon in different societies. During natural disasters, famines and epidemics the mass graves were used for preventing infection and diseases. Even in the contemporary times, the mass graves are being used in natural disasters, as has been the case in the recent earthquake in Pakistan Administered Kashmir. These mass graves are felt necessary and unavoidable. However, the mass graves have become controversial during major conflict areas. During Stalin Era millions of people were exterminated in Russia and the government is still discovering mass graves such as the one at Rzhevksy artillery range that holds about 30,000 people.  

During Word War II 1941, Euthanasia victims clandestinely killed (that continued up to the end of the World War II) by the Germans are being investigated by the present German government. Even recently, an 80-year-old wartime nurse and a survival of the World War II after 60 years broke the silence to reveal her part in burying hundreds of bodies in Tokyo before the American forces occupied the Japan’s capital. Japanese government is investigating the matter. 

A mass grave holding the remains of thousands of Jews killed by Nazis have been found in southern Ukraine and a mass grave was found by chance recently when workers were preparing to lay gas pipelines in the village of Gvozdavka-1, Kiew. Not to speak of the mass graves of the World War II, but the phenomenon exist even in recent conflicts. The human rights groups in Morocco claimed that it has found a mass grave of 50 bodies in the former detention center set up in the 1970s. In Guatemala, people kidnapped or disappeared later killed and buried clandestinely in the mass graves in the countryside have been discovered with the help of the internationally renowned organization EAAF. The local human rights organizations are conducting exhumations of the human remains. Even local human rights organizations claimed that peace will not come to Guatemala as long as the remains of our massacred relatives continued to be buried in clandestine cemeteries, and we are unable to gave them Christian burial. We do not want our dead would be abandoned in the ravines... For this reason we continue to demand the formation of forensic teams in order to continue exhumations. 

The government at Moscow installed in Chechnya has admitted that there are 50 mass graves on its territory and the list have been compiled by the police with the help of non-governmental organizations. The chairman of the Chechnya government for civil rights have said that the dead were civilians killed in last 5 years, many of the victims of Russian military operations. Even Human Rights Watch has charged the Russian government that detenues were summarily executed, often tortured, and buried and, has urged the UN Commission on Human Rights for adopting a resolution to establish an International Commission of Enquiry to investigate the mass graves as well as other human rights crimes by Russian troops and Chechen rebel forces. On February 21, 2001, the relatives of three Chechen men who have disappeared in the custody of Russian soldiers in December 2000 discovered a large number of bodies, including those of their beloved ones, in a cottage village in the immediate vicinity of the main Russian military base at Kankala. Later 48 bodies were also recovered and taken to Groznyy where relatives of the missing person have an opportunity to search for their loved ones. By March 30, 2001, 14 of the 48 bodies were identified and taken away by their relatives for burial; the remaining bodies were buried in a village outside Groznyy on March 10, 2001. 

Mass graves were also unearthed in Aceh formally a “semi-autonomous province of Indonesia” region pointing to the murder of the thousands of people by the Indonesian military regime during the late 1980s and early 1990s. Amounting to public pressure four member commission investigators dig up sites and dozens of alleged Islamic separatists bodies were exhumed most of them were the disappeared. A human rights group at Aceh has estimated 39,000 or more people are disappeared since 1989.      

The Algerian authorities must use valuable evidence to identify the perpetrators and bring them to justice. In Algeria, since 1998 at least a dozen mass graves have discovered and according to AI “urgent measures were taken to preserve the evidence at the site to identify the victims and establish the truth about these killings.” 

The phenomenon is a macabre pointer to the clandestine of the counter insurgency operations carried out in this period. In the contemporary times, the inter-state conflict has been replaced by intra-state conflict and large number of the countries are engaged in neutralizing the counter insurgency or political movements and in this process they resort to extra constitutional measures, nevertheless, they are signatories to international covenants. In this behalf, there is least difference between the democratic and undemocratic countries. The democratic countries are using sophisticated ways and means to silence the combatants and non-combatants demanding political rights while as the military regimes are using crude ways in meeting their objectives, as has been the case in Pakistan. 

Besides, other conflict areas in India, Kashmir, where conflict is going on for last 18 years and the state with its huge army and police with legal impunity are resorting to measures which violate the International Humanitarian and International Human Rights Laws to neutralize the resistance. The minimum force is being used with maximum results without going for aerial campaign or rolling tanks or using chemical weapons. In a sophisticated ways the government is campaigning against the people demanding the political rights. People have been tortured, subjected to enforced disappearances or killed brutally after branding them as foreign militants. Unlike other conflict areas where the mass graves have been unearthed, Kashmir where 10,000 people are subjected to enforced disappearances yet no such mass graves have been located. Sometimes back a working journalist of national media known for its investigative journalism was working on the project as he shared this thing with the Editor but finally he had to abandon it for the reasons best known to him. It is unlikely that there are no mass graves in Kashmir. Recently, there was public outcry against the fake encounters when the bodies of the disappeared persons were exhumed from different graveyards. A state where omnipresent army is operating since 1989, have several camps in one square furlong where eagles dare, people have been tortured and disappeared. There is no accessibility of press or human rights organizations to these camps. The question is where the mass graves in Kashmir are, what is its number and how many graves each mass grave contain. Notwithstanding, the favourable topography of Jammu and Kashmir for the perpetrators having dotted with rivers, lakes, forests where the bodies are being destroyed or thrown (even in world famous Dal Lake bodies have surfaced in past), but there are places where people have been buried as foreign militants. There is no record in the police station or the photographs of these people buried in these graves. These mass graves containing multiple usually unidentified human corpse is a challenge to the human rights defenders. There are graveyards where more than 100 and less than 10 bodies have been buried and nobody knows who the people are. Never ever the graveyards have so rapidly multiplied in such short period of 17 years. According to one estimate more than 200 graveyards related to militancy have come up since 1989. Since there is no strict definition of minimum number of bodies required to constitute a mass grave, it is feared that the mass graves are widespread mostly in the 740 km Line of Actual Control diving Kashmir into two parts. Besides these areas, in the army camps, interrogation centers these grotesque secrets are lying and it needs enormous efforts to unearth it and expose the perpetrators. Have we to wait till the complete demilitarization take place and dig up the lands where the camps were located or wait till accidentally like Gvozdavka-1 these mass graves would unearthed. 

TWO GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES FELL TO THE BULLETS OF ARMY

On March 10, 2007 two persons were killed by the troops of 42 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) during a cordon and search operation at Aripal Tral, a village in the south district Pulwama, about 48 kilometers from Srinagar. The victims were identified as Jehangir Ahmad Khan (30) son of Mohammad Abdullah, resident of Aripal and Ghulam Mohammad Mir (58) son of Mohammad Shaban, resident of Satoora Tral. Jehangir was working as a laboratory attendant in the department of Education and Ghulam Mohammad as an accountant in the Food and Supplies department. The killings sparked off massive demonstrations against the army and the state administration. The residents asserted that the killings were made without any provocation whereas the army refuted the allegation.


Azi, 55, mother of the slain Jehangir told to The Informative Missive, “March 10 is the most wretched day of my life which would never stop haunting me. At around 4pm the troopers of the army camped at Yangwen cordoned off the whole Aripal village and made an announcement on the megaphone of the local mosque that all the inhabitants are ordered to come out of their houses and gather in the mosque lawn. Except Jehangir we were all in the house. Jehangir was in Satoora village where he was rendering his official duty.  When the village was cordoned off, we were worried about Jehangir because it was the time of his returning from his office. During the cordon operation, all the passersby’s were allowed to come inside village. After coming back from the office, Jehangir had entered the village and on reaching near the house he was stopped by the army personnel. The army personnel asked him for his identity card and after checking his identity he was allowed to move towards his house. In the meantime another soldier ordered him to move towards the mosque for identification parade. When he started to move the soldier fired at him. Local residents Ghulam Rasool, Fayaz Ahmad and some other residents of the village had witnessed the unprovoked firing on Jehangir. They told us that Jehangir was walking towards his house and the army men for identity card checking stopped him and after checking he was allowed to go. After that another soldier shot at him and the bullet struck his ear. On being hit by the bullet Jehangir fell down on the ground and then some soldiers started beating him with boots and then they shot a barrage of bullets in his chest. His chest was perforated with innumerable bullets and then the troopers threw him into the nearby stream. When we took his dead body three used bullets were recovered from the pocket of his jacket. After killing Jehangir the troopers started to fire indiscriminately and most of the bullets were fired towards our house. I was in the first floor of the house, whereas my daughter- in- law and her three children were in the ground floor. We screeched and shouted for help but there was none to help us. This was the time when people were moving out of their house for identification parade and the whole village was cordoned by the army troops”. 

Hilala, 28, wife of the slain Jehangir laments, “After Jehangir was shot dead, at the same time another person Ghulam Mohammad Mir was also shot dead without any provocation. My father- in-law was in the identification parade. When firing broke out, we were nervous.  My mother-in-law and I went out and found a crowd of people around the stream. In the crowd the villagers and my father- in- law were taking out Jehangir from the stream. When we reached the spot, we found Jehangir in the pool of blood and the water in the stream had turned red. On seeing Jehangir my mother-in-law fell unconscious. Some of my relatives and I rushed towards the army men and caught them by the collars and told them why they killed Jehangir. I told them there were no militants in the village why they did so? The troopers were silent but some of the troopers again fired in the air to disperse the people who were trying to carry the dead bodies of Jehangir and Ghulam Mohammad. In the meantime some police personnel from Sofigund police post came to the spot and they told army men to vacate the place otherwise the situation in the area would get worse. After that the army personnel left the village”. 

Hilala further added, “Jehangir and Ghulam Mohammad were rushed to the Aripal hospital by the villagers in the form of a procession where both of them were declared dead. For the whole night both the dead bodies were kept in the courtyard of the hospital. Next day in the morning some other doctors visited the hospital and conducted autopsy of the deceased and compiled death certificates. The brutal army troopers intentionally killed my innocent husband. Army had cordoned off the village and they were searching for the militants in the area but when they found nothing they killed my husband. The troopers were with an intention to portray my husband as a militant because at the time he was shot dead, all his testimonials and even some money was confiscated from his pocket. But when the troopers came to know that his grandfather is a former Divisional Commissioner they retracted to do so. The time we asked soldiers that why they killed Jehangir they responded that we were unaware that he belongs to former Divisional Commissioner’s family. He was the only hope to the family and now there is none in the family who could feed my three minor kids and me or even his frail parents”. 

Mohammad Abdullah Khan, father of Jehangir who is deaf mourned, “My family was ruined both by the militants as well as by the army troopers. Militants killed my younger son Bilal Ahmad in the year 1999 and now the brutal troops killed my innocent elder son. All my hopes were lying on my two sons but fate snatched both of them from me in a nasty way. My younger son was killed in September 1999. Bilal came back to home after offering Friday noon prayers. He had his lunch and meanwhile one of his friends told him that some persons are calling him outside. He went out of the house and accompanied them. It was 7:30pm when we heard some gunshots. We went out and heard about Bilal’s killing. The unidentified person had taken him to Dar Ganai Gund village, where he was first tortured and then shot dead. The perpetrators were suspected to be the militants of Hizbul Mujahideen outfit. Bilal was 17 and was studying in the 10th class as a private candidate. The reason for his killing was not known”.

“In the year 2006, some army men had visited my elder son Jehangir’s School in Satoora village and confirmed his address from the school inmates. After that the army troopers raided our house but Jehangir was not present in house. The troopers searched our house and were demanding for Jehangir’s photograph but we refused to give his photograph. Now it was army’s turn and they murdered my son mercilessly. The army officer who perpetrated my son’s killing is named as ‘Kala Singh’, an officer belonging to Sikh community. Next day after Jehangir’s death, District Development Commissioner Bashir Ahmad Kakroo and some other higher officials visited our village and assured us for the justice but justice is yet to be done. I am very much frightened because both of my sons were killed without any reason. Right from the day of Jehangir’s killing; I am scared and feel insecure. Every night I call any of my kith and kin to stay at my house because I am completely broken and disheartened. I am worried about the future of my grand children, my daughter in-law and my heart patient wife”, added Mohammad Abdullah. 

Azi, mother of deceased Jehangir further said, “All our hopes were shattered by the brutal army troopers. Before Bilal’s killing in the year 1999, Jehangir underwent training at Sheeri Baramulla in the department of Police. He had been recruited as a constable in the Jammu & Kashmir police. But after his brother’s killing, he quit the job and came back to home because there was no other male member except his deaf father in the family who could look after the family. Then he started to run a shop at Tral and remained associated with business till he got the job in the department of Education as a laboratory attendant. He had joined the police department with an intention to protect the people but he did not know that the armed forces would take his life away cruelly”.

 
“I have three minor children; two daughters Tahira (6) a UKG student, Tahiba (5 months old) and a son Moin Khan (4) a Nursery class student. Who will come to take care of them? Tahira often asks about his father and to divert her attention I always lie to her by saying that he has gone for some work to Srinagar. Then she recurrently enquires when our Papa would come back? The moment my kids search their father, that time situation in the family becomes painful. I am agonized about the fate of my family. My father-in- law and mother- in- law are old and weak. Who will help us”, lamented Hilala.

Another deceased, Ghulam Mohammad Mir was residing in the Satoora village but at that unfortunate moment he was at his sister’s house and had left towards Satoora when he was caught in the army firing. 

Jela (60), sister of deceased Ghulam Mohammad while speaking to The Informative Missive said, “My brother had recently retired from the service. He worked as a schoolteacher in the department of Education. On the unfortunate day he had gone to Pulwama for collecting some of his retirement documents. He was residing in the Satoora village but when he returned back from Pulwama he was exhausted. To take some rest, he came to my house at Aripal village. After having some food he left. When he moved out he was ordered by some of the army troopers to go to mosque. In the meantime the firing broke out in which Jehangir was also killed. On hearing the gunshots my brother had taken refuge under a wooden shop located near the bus stop. When soldiers found him they shot him dead. He received bullets on the ankle and on the loin that caused his death on the spot. My brother was a retired schoolteacher but why was he killed with out any reason? He was not carrying any weapon. He was just carrying his grandson’s school uniform and retirement documents. He had lived all his life in serving the nation. Which law of the land permits the killing of such innocents? The perpetrators of my brother must be punished and justice should be done to his family”. 

KASHMIRI RESEARCHER ARRESTED IN DELHI

On September 12, 2006 the Delhi police personnel dressed in civvies arrested a Kashmir research scholar at the Delhi airport when he was on his way to Pune for pursuing his higher studies. The researcher was identified as Parvez Ahmad Radoo, 27, son of Sanaullah Radoo, resident of NoorBagh, Sopore, district Baramulla, about 58 kilometers away from Srinagar. He was subjected to illegal detention for more than one month. Finally on October 20, Delhi police claimed that they arrested Parvez Ahmad Radoo Alias Raju from Azadpur Delhi and labeled him as a militant of JeM (Jamiat-ul-Mujahidin) outfit and also demonstrated recovery of arms and ammunition from his possession.


Ajaz Ahmad Radoo, brother of Parvez said while talking to The Informative Missive, “Parvez had done his Masters degree in Zoology from the Pune University. On September 12, Parvez left for Delhi, as he had to go to Pune University for his PhD research. He had reserved his air ticket through Spice Jet airways from Srinagar to Delhi and then from Delhi to Pune. He left from Srinagar airport at around 12:10pm and reached Delhi Airport at around 1:30pm. As soon as he went to collect his boarding pass, some persons in civvies ordered him to accompany them, which Parvez refused, but the persons forcibly picked him up. On September 16 Parvez called home saying he had reached Pune and was okay. On the telephonic conversation, he also told that he is trying to the get the admission in the Pune University for his higher studies. Delhi Police Special Cell had brought a mobile phone bearing number 09960565152 subscribed from a Pune based cellular company and Parvez made calls from the same number so that we (family) should remain unaware about Parvez’s detention. It was after one month that we came to know about Parvez’s arrest and then we rushed to Tihar jail to meet him”.


Ajaz further added, “Parvez did call us daily till we heard about his arrest. It was October 20 when the news of his arrest was aired by all the TV news channels. It was aired that on October 14 a top JeM militant Parvaiz Ahmad Radoo alias Raju was arrested by the Special Cell of Delhi police from Azadpur Market and some ammunition and cash was recovered from his possession which is totally false. We were shocked when we watched Parvez on a TV news channel, surrounded by police. Police claimed that they arrested him on October 14 whereas he called home till the evening of October 20 and told that he is very well in Pune. Since he left for Pune, he used to call us from the cell number 09960565152. After he was shown on the television, the same evening he called home from the same number and inquired about his family. He said he has been enrolled for Ph D. I told him ‘why are you lying, you were just shown on TV in police custody.’ Before he could utter the phone was snatched from him and an inspector Mohan Chand Sharma came on the phone and told don’t worry about Parvez he is safe and told us to come to Delhi. After the phone call we suspected that he has been entangled in a fake militancy case”.

“Finally on October 26 we left for Delhi. In Delhi we contacted inspector Sharma, he told us to come to Special Cell quarters of Delhi Police at Lodhi Road. When we reached to the quarters we saw Parvez in a very awful state as he could not even move. He told us that police had brutally tortured him in custody and that he was arrested on October 12 from the Delhi airport when he was collecting his boarding pass. He was subjected to the severe torture incessantly for about one month, till his arrest was made public through the media on October 20. We were not allowed to talk to Parvez too long because the cops at the special cell quarters told us that he would be shifted to Tihar jail on October 30 and we can meet him there. Then we met Parvez on October 30 in Tihar jail where he narrated all the circumstances of his arrest and torture which was inflicted on him in custody”, said Ajaz.

Ajaz further said, “When Parvez was arrested by special cell of Delhi police from the Delhi airport they ordered him to say what they wanted to. After I refused they threatened to kill him and told Parvez to call home to say I am fine. He was subjected to the brutal torture with electrodes fixed on his genitals and was coerced to write a confessional statement. His body was stapled all over; mostly his legs were badly damaged. In the first week of arrest he was regularly tortured and for the remaining time he was kept in the detention at Delhi police special cell quarter at Lodhi Road till he was portrayed as a militant in front of media. In police custody he often called his home on the phone and was intimating us about his condition but we were unaware that he was lying us because of the fear of death. At every phone call he had been threatened by the police for not disclosing anything regarding his detention and for the reason he never uttered anything to family. In the month long detention Parvez had written a statement in which he had mentioned all the persecutions that were inflicted on him”.     

 “Seeing us in tears, two cops, Mohan Chand and Dhamendra of Delhi police special cell consoled us saying, ‘we are helpless. Some of our senior officers told us to arrest a Kashmiri and label him as a militant so that they could get promotion and for the reason Parvez was arrested. We tried our level best to get him released even we contacted some higher officials of the Delhi police but failed to get him free. Some cops of special cell told us that after charge sheet is filed against Parvez, and then you can apply for his bail’,” told Ali Muhammad, uncle of Parvez Ahmad.

Ali Muhammad further added, “Parvez graduated in Science stream from Degree College Sopore in the year 2001 and for further study he went to Pune University, where he completed his Masters degree in Zoology in the year 2004. After his masters degree he was looking for research in the same subject and was aspiring to go to Korea. Many of his friends succeeded in getting enrolled in South Korea. In South Korea excellent scholarships were being provided for the research studies and he tried a lot to go there but he could not get admission. Apart from studies he was a excellent sportsman. He was a very good volleyball player and participated in the national volleyball tournament held in Rajsthan. Throughout his life he was never involved in any unlawful activity and was never charged of any offence. He is just a student who wanted to pursue his education. If it is proved that he is a militant, Delhi police can shoot him. We don’t know any politician who could help us in his release. Even we contacted political highups like Saif-u-din Soz and Rahul Patel for Parvez’s release but all in vain”.

POLICE VERSION

According to the police statements, they have foiled a terror attack on Diwali and Eid in the capital. Parvez Ahmad Radoo Alias Raju, a militant of JeM outfit had come to Delhi to hand over explosives to his contacts in Delhi. Police claimed to have held him from Azadpur market on October 14 and seized 3-kg of RDX, a detonator, a timer and rupees 10 lakhs from him. After intelligence inputs police laid a trap at the bus stop near the entry/exit gate of Azadpur Mandi around 6:30pm, where they spotted a man carrying a bag, who was nabbed by cops. Police also accused him for having affiliation with Srinagar Chief ‘Sherjil’, a Pakistani resident.

“Radoo gave important information about JeM leadership in Kashmir. So his arrest was not made public immediately and police was sent to Kashmir first”, said DCP (Deputy Commissioner Police) special cell Alok Kumar.

ENFORCED DISAPPEARANCE 
Nazir Ahmad Dar, 24, son of Abdul Aziz Dar, resident of Surasyar, Chadoora, Budgam disappeared on November 18, 1997 when he was returning to his workplace in Srinagar from Chadoora. Abdul Majeed, younger brother of disappeared Nazir approached the office of The Public Commission on Human Rights and narrated the story of Nazir’s disappearance.

 
Majeed said while talking to The Informative Missive, “My brother was working as a laborer at Chinar Enterprises, Tankipora, Srinagar, a company dealing with poultry products. On November 15, 1997, he came back to home after few months of stay at his workplace. He stayed three days and on November 18, 1997, he left for Srinagar. Few days passed, we received a phone call at our neighbors telephone number from the owner of the Chinar Enterprises in which the owner of the company told us that where is Nazir and why didn’t he come for work? We replied that he left for the work four days back but the owner told that he did not contacted him. We thought that he might have joined some other company and then I went to Srinagar and joined his work at Chinar Enterprises. I was just 16 but I was compelled to join the work because there was lack of support for the family. My mother started to live alone at the house as my father died when I was a kid. I started earning and on the other hand I was searching my brother”.


Majeed further added, “My brother had been working with Chinar Enterprises for the last three years but before that he was working as a laborer in Globe Transport Agency, Ludhiana. I with my Uncle Ali Mohammad Dar went to Ludhiana for determining his whereabouts but found nothing there. We returned back empty-handed. We circulated his photograph almost in every district of the Kashmir and we also approached many security agencies but nothing divulged out. Due to the fear and apprehensions we couldn’t highlight the matter in media; even waited for months for his letter as whenever he remained away from his home he used to write to us but we did not receive any letter this time. Finally we concluded that he was disappeared. My mother, Azi, who is in her mid-fifties, approached police station Chadoora alone and informed police about the disappearance of Nazir and requested them to file the missing report. The police personnel had told my mother that they would file a report and would search for Nazir but all in vain. I was persistently searching my brother for years but nothing unearthed. While searching for Nazir, fate gave me another blow as I developed a joint ailment. My left leg became inert, for which I could not move out of my house for two years. During the time my mother and I faced many hardships and difficulties, as there was none in the family who could support us. Luckily the owner of the Chinar Enterprises helped me for those two years and my mother was working as a laborer in the village. Whatever the money was coming, all of that was being spend on my treatment. My mother faced many hardships; on one side she was distressed by Nazir disappearance and on the other side my illness further tormented her. After I recovered from the ailment, I again started to search for my brother but every time I returned with empty hands. All of my earnings were spent in search of my brother and we had to face extreme poverty”. 

“Last year (2006), I was suggested by a doctor to go for the legal help. He also told me to approach some human rights organizations. When I approached State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) they asked me for the copy of missing report which the concerned police station had filed. Then I approached police station Chadoora and asked them to provide missing report, which they refused by saying that we have not visited the police station concerning Nazir disappearance and there is no such report in the police station. Police refused my mothers visit to the police station and denied to provide any report. My mother was ignorant at the time she had visited police station, because she didn’t asked the police whether they filed the report or not. Now we are restless, how we will find Nazir”, expressed Majeed.

YOUTH’S DISAPPEARANCE CONTINUES TO TORMENT THE FAMILY

In September 2003, twenty-four-year-old Nasir Ahmad Afandi, s/o Late Haji Ghulam Nabi Afandi disappeared mysteriously from his residential area Shaheed Gunj, Srinagar. He left home at 10 am for purchasing bread. Since then his whereabouts are not known. The family remained silent for sometime due to fear. They thought he might have been arrested by armed forces and would be released soon. “Initially, we hoped that he will be released because in past Nasir was arrested several times by various government agencies for having proximity with armed turned political outfit Jammu and Kashmir Liberation Front (JKLF). He was also subjected to various forms of torture”, said elder brother Nisar Ahmad, who approached the office of PCHR to make his ordeal public. 


Nasir first got arrested in 1993 during cordon and search operation conducted by BSF in Shaheed Gunj when he was thirteen years old. He was detained for 9 months at PAPA 1 (Old Airport), detention centre. After his release, he dissociated himself from the ongoing militancy. “Second time Nasir was arrested in 1995 and was released after seven months. Nasir was again arrested in 1997and was released in battered condition after 15 days. In the same year BSF personnel arrested him again and put him behind the bars for one year. Soon after his release in 1998, SHO Shaheed Gunj called him and he was arrested by Special Operations Group (SOG). That time he was detained under Public Safety Act (PSA) for two years and was detained in Hari Niwas, Kot Balwal and central jail. The detention order was challenged in High Court. The High Court quashed his detention orders.  After his last release he started his own business”, elaborated Nisar Ahmad.


On his arrest in September 2003 after waiting for several days when Nasir failed to return back, his family approached to the concerned police station at Shaheed Gunj for lodging the First Information Report (FIR), “At the beginning police avoided filing any report and gave contradictory statements that he would have gone to Azad Kashmir (PAK) for arms training. Even sometimes they misled us by saying that he is an active militant in Shopian area in South Kashmir. Finally they filed an FIR”, Nisar said.

“When Nasir disappeared, a shopkeeper at Shaheed Gunj market witnessed his abduction but he didn’t utter anything before our family and police, fearing it might lead him also in the rut of agency behind Nasir’s abduction”, said Nisar. One person approached the family and demanded ten thousand Rupees for giving his whereabouts and getting him released. The family fulfilled the demand but said person didn’t prove helpful.


Later the family came to know that on the day of Nasir’s disappearance he was been chased by a person namely Saleem resident of Noori Masjid, Delhi. “Residing as a paying guest at my aunt’s house Saleem became much friendly to us very soon. He introduced himself as a vegetable seller but his living standard triggered suspicion among residents of the area. We all believed that he was associated and working for the G-Branch of BSF. We are sure he is involved in Nasir’s abduction”, said Nisar Ahmed.

The family also revealed that Saleem had borrowed rupees 10 thousand from Nasir in Ladakh where Nasir was doing hosiery business. After Nasir’s disappearance Saleem disappeared mysteriously.


From past three years Nasir’s family approached many authorities. “We are unable to receive any relevant information about him. Once a stranger informed us he is detained in Kot Bhalwal jail, Jammu. We visited Kot Balwal jail but he was not there”, said Nasir. “Owing to fear my father never thinks of fighting the case through court of law. He always insisted us not to pursue the case through the court, as the process is too cumbersome and it would agitate the perpetrators to unleash further terror on other family members’’.

Nasir’s abduction turned his parents into patients. Last year his father died because he could not resist his separation and swelled the problems further for the family. 

NISAR AHMED: A VICTIM HIMSELF

While narrating the story of his brother’s disappearance the PCHR researcher came to know about the victimization of Nisar himself, who has a gruesome story to state.  

Nisar Ahmed, 35, influenced by the Tablegi-e-Jamaat, apolitical religious group, was severally tortured at different times which has rendered him partially incapacitated. 

In 1993 a gas cylinder got exploded in Afandi’s house. All the family members including Nisar received serious burns. Nisar was hospitalized for many days. On next day after his discharge from the hospital a search and cordon operation was conducted in the area of Shaheed Gunj. Nisar as well as his brother Nasir among other people was picked up by troops. Nisar was set free where Nasir was detained and was released after nine months.

In 1994 Nisar was again arrested by 16 Bn of BSF and was detained for fifteen days after subjecting to various forms of torture. In 1996 another search and cordon operation was conducted by BSF in Shaheed Gunj area. Nisar was taken to Karan Nager camp where a BSF officer Dilip Tiwari tortured him for fifteen days and later released him.   


In 2005 BSF conducted a raid in Nisar’s residence. They picked up Nisar and tortured him for three days. Giving account to his torture Nisar stated to Informative Missive,

“I was arrested and BSF personnel took me to the Gunpatyar Temple (which is now converted into forces camp) located at the old town Habba Kadal. My hands and feet were tied with ropes. I was taken inside a room where a magician namely Showkat Ali Khan, few Sadus and some BSF personnel were present. The BSF personnel tied me with a Charpai (cot). My hands and feet were beaten harshly and I reiterated that I am not a militant. They tied my mouth with a piece of cloth and tortured me for about three hours. After that somebody removed the cloth from my mouth and forced me to drink water in large quantity. Following this they start beating me. Three persons sat on my belly and I vomited the water which I was forced to consume and the undigested food that I had taken at my home. Again I was forced to drink more water and the process continued till I lost my conscious. Then they kept me in a solitary room where I spent the night. Next morning some BSF personnel made me to walk for about ten minutes to another camp located in same locality. I was handcuffed and one BSF person tied a piece of cloth around my eyes at the new place. The commanding officer of the camp asked me several questions regarding my family background and my education.  Few soldiers kept slapping and abusing me. While replying the question a bucket full of water was thrown on my head. The water was slightly acidic. I suspect it was petrol and thought they are going to burn me alive. Beating continuously some soldiers pricked me with syringe needles. I was frightened and suspected they might transmit HIV virus or other forms of drugs into my blood. They declared that they have to kill me and they left the room. The cloth around my eyes got loosened and I peeped out and found the pictures of Hindu God Shiva and Goddess Parvati hanging on the walls of the room. After sometime some boys entered into the room. I couldn’t see their faces but they were talking in Kashmiri. They had north Kashmiri accent. I asked them where am I? They replied that they have come to thrash me as they are working for the BSF. But they did not thrash me and talked to me in a sympathetic way. Then I was taken to another place where my hands were untied. I was asked to take the food, which I refused. I thought that the food might be containing some poison or drugs which may harm me. In past once during the arrest, I and other detainees were given food that contained some harmful substance that caused renal disorders to detainees who had consumed it. When I refused to take the food the cops got furious and tied my hands and cocked their guns and threatened me that they won’t leave me (Tumko Chhodna nahi hai). They triggered their unloaded guns. Following that they put some snakes over my body.  First I thought that the snakes are artificial but as soon as they started to tickle my face and body I was frightened. The snakes were real but may be not poisonous. Then they fixed an electrode with my feet and another on my teeth and a headgear was also placed on my head. After that they poured water over my body and applied electric current. I was given shocks for about 5-10 seconds in four sessions. My body was shaken and I felt that my body would rupture. To some extent I had been able to resist the electric shocks as I was adept in Martial Arts. After that I was taken into another room. I was not able to walk but the soldiers dragged me towards the room and propelled me on the scorching coal. In the meantime some one asked for my last wish. Then again in the dramatizing way they cocked their guns and a cop put a knife on my neck. I started to recite the Qalimah (Holy verses). Meanwhile a phone rung out and that call saved my life”. 

“Since my arrest my family members and neighbours were demonstrating against the BSF and were demanding for my immediate release. The protesters were voicing slogans that one brother was subjected to Enforced Disappearance and another has been arrested without any fault. People in delegation met police and civil authorities for my release. Protests and Darnas were conducted outside Deputy Commissioner’s office. Perhaps that pressurized the authorities to prevail upon the BSF to release me. After the phone call cops stopped torturing me. They changed their behaviour towards me. Before setting me free I was taken in open where I felt the sunshine. One cop again questioned me regarding my involvement and period of detention. I replied I feel I am here for fifteen years. Another solider took some hair from my scalp. The hair was uprooted during the torture and a soldier put them on my palm. With this the cloth around my eyes was removed.  They lodged me in their vehicle and handed me over to my family. On seeing my condition my family broke to screeches. Soon I was rushed to the hospital where I was taken under medical supervision.” concluded Nisar.             

5 LABOURERS OF MINORITY COMMUNITY KILLED
JAMMU, March 29: Militants allegedly struck at village Panglar under the jurisdiction of Dharamshal police station in Rajouri district killing five labourers including three members of a family and injuring four others, all belonging to minority community.

Militants allegedly spared one of the laborers who belonged to majority community; another laborer survived the attack.

Inspector General of Police (IGP), Jammu, S.P. Vaid told that two militants wearing camouflage dresses appeared at the residence of Mohd Hussain son of Ilam Din at Panglar where 11 labourers had taken a room on rent for past few days, at 10.30 pm last night.

The labourers, most of whom hailed from village Solki, about 7 kilometers towards Siot in Kalakot tehsil of Rajouri district, had been engaged by contractor, Ram Lal for construction work of Mathyani-Panglar road.

Militants roasted a chicken in adjoining room of the labourers and consumed it before asking all 11 labourers to show their identity cards claiming that they belonged to army. They also asked the labourers to hand over to them their wristwatches and cash. While the labourers had very little cash with them, three of them were wearing watches, which they kept on a side.

Finding only one labourer of majority community in the group of 11 from identity cards in their possession, the militants asked all 10 labourers of minority community to stand in a queue and asked the other one to sit in a corner.

IGP Vaid said the militants opened indiscriminate firing with AK-47 rifles on the labourers of minority community killing five of them on spot and injuring four others. One of the labourers fell down posing as injured and survived. The militants spared a labourer from majority community, identified as Mohammad Tasveer son of Ghulam Din resident of Udhampur. The labourer, who escaped unhurt in the attack, has been identified as Sandesh Kumar son of Preet Singh, a resident of Solki, Kalakot.

After killings, the militants escaped from the spot. 

"Police was trying to ascertain identity of the killers", the IGP Vaid said, adding the massacre appeared to have been executed by the militants as a revenge to the killing of Mohammad Yasin, a Special Police Officer-turned Hizbul Mujahideen divisional commander, who was eliminated by police and security forces in Darhal last month.


Sources said before leaving the spot, the militants bolted door of the room from outside. They also beat up Mohammad Tasveer, the majority community laborer for working with minority community labourers.

As labourers didn’t turn up for work, other labourers, who had been putting up in another room at some distance, opened the door and saw the labourers dead and injured. They rushed to Mathyani Gala army picket, about three kilometers from the site of killings, and informed troops about the incident. Army and police parties rushed to the spot. All four injured were rushed to the hospital.

Sandesh Kumar, who survived the attack, told that militants two in number entered the room wearing camouflage dresses and each of them was holding a silencer fitted AK-47 rifle. They had also tied two grenades each with their belts but didn’t use them, he said.

Kumar said he fell down as soon as the militants started indiscriminate firing and was not hit by the bullets. He too was presumed dead or injured by the militants. Sources said the militants bolted the room from outside to ensure that injured labourers don’t manage to come out to inform security forces and get killed by morning when the door is opened. However, four injured battled with life till this morning and survived. Mohammad Hussain in whose house the killings took place was not present in the house, as he had given the room on rent to labourers. His wife and three children were present in an adjoining room but they were not harmed by the militants. 

Five labourers, who were killed in the militant’s attack, were identified as Sanjay Kumar, 21, son of Raj Kumar, Chaman Lal, 32 and Mohinder Kumar, 28, both brothers of Raj Kumar, Baldev Kumar, 35, son of Bakshi Ram and Rashpaul Singh son of Preet Singh, all residents of Kurlian, Solki, Kalakot.

Deputy Commissioner, Rajouri, Pervez Malik announced Rupees one lakh ex-gratia in favour of kin of the victims and a job as per the Government rules.

FAKE ENCOUNTERS IN RAJOURI

March 5: With district administration yet to officially confirm the innocence of the three persons who had been allegedly picked up by 18 Dogra Unit stationed at Rajouri in the year 1997, sources in the district administration have affirmed that innocence of the three persons has been established from the preliminary investigation. 

Sources have said that preliminary investigation, which is yet to be concluded, has revealed that the three persons in question neither figure in the list of wanted persons nor in the list of missing persons as per the records available with Rajouri Police. They maintain that it has also been established from the preliminary investigation that no FIR had ever been registered by the families of the missing persons with any police station. 

Sources in the district administration and police have said that preliminary investigations have confirmed that when the three persons went missing, 18 Dogra Unit was stationed at Kreeri. Thereafter, 2 Sikh took over from them. Presently, 13 SIKLI is stationed at that place. Sources have said that it is yet to be established that the three who are allegedly buried at Peer Badaser are the same three persons who went missing in 1997. 

Sources have maintained that it will take some more days to verify whether there is any grave in the area identified by the families. "We do not want to speculate anything. The fact remains that a complaint was received by the district development commissioner, an inquiry was ordered and what has come out so far is that the three have no criminal record against them," added a senior officer expressing anonymity. 

However, relatives of the three 'missing' persons have stated that they are sure about the information, which was provided to them by a source. They allege that their relatives namely Abdul Aziz (26), Mohammed Yousuf (45) son of Raj Mohammed and Mohammed Aziz (then 22) son of Mohammed Hussain have been killed in custody by men from 18 Dogra and thereafter thrown into two pits which had been dug out at a place called Peer Badaser. 

They are seeking DNA testing of the buried persons. "Let police call the experts and carry out DNA tests. We are sure that our claims would get vindicated as and when this is done," said Mohammed Hussain father of missing Abdul Aziz. He added that they are getting a good response from the district administration but wonders if the same would be done once it is established that innocents were murdered in cold blood.

"Police is verifying the details, but would those guilty be punished? I have some doubts," said the old man who lost his son. The complainant Mohammed Farooq who is brother of allegedly dead Abdul Aziz says that he would not have lodged a complaint, had not a source whom he has refused to identify informed him that three bodies were buried at Peer Badaser area near Line of Control in the year 1997. 

Farooq alleges that his elder brother Abdul Aziz was picked up by an army party of 18 Dogra on October 9, 1997 which according to him was stationed in Kreeri area at that time. He further alleges that along with his brother, two other persons named Mohammed Yousuf (then 45) son of Raj Mohammed and Abdul Aziz (then 22) son of Mohammed Hussain from the same village Kotdhara were picked up by army. 

When contacted, SSP Farooq Khan denied the media reports that police has established the innocence of the three and are awaiting a team for the DNA test of the three persons who have allegedly been buried at two different places along the Line of Control. "I have not officially spoken even a single word regarding the inquiry being conducted by police, we are carrying out investigations and nothing is yet to be confirmed, No teams have been called for conducting DNA tests," said SSP Farooq Khan. 

He added that police would not hide anything and details would be divulged to everyone once they are received. "We are verifying the allegation leveled by the complainant, Records are being checked and cross-checked, I am myself spearheading the entire investigation, but let me assure that police has released no statement regarding the three," added the SSP. 

Meanwhile, District Development Commissioner (DDC) Rajouri Parvez Ahmed Malik has informed that the spot where the families are saying that the three have been buried lies on the other side of the fence. "It is a little dangerous to visit that place, there is a temple nearby the spot where the three have allegedly been buried and moreover the spot is on the other side of the fence," added Malik. 

On March 7, the special police team probing the case identified two graves at Line of Control in which the disappeared men are feared to have been buried after their murder. 

The graves were identified and marked by the police team on the information provided by three army informers who were picked up by the police for interrogation. 
The deputy superintendent of police headquarters Rajouri, K S Jasrotia who heads the investigation team told that bodies would be exhumed within few days. The investigations were started on the orders of the Deputy Commissioner Rajouri Pervez Malik after the relatives of the disappeared men wrote to him that on October 9, 1997 the troops of 18 Dogra Regiment picked up three men from village Kotdhara and were never seen again. 

On Tuesday the police team headed by K S Jasrotia visited the LoC near Kancha Post in Peer Badaser area and marked two graves.

“Yes we have marked two pits at LoC identified by the relatives of the missing persons and the further action will be taken in the presence of magistrate shortly,” said K S Jasrotia. 

Sources said three army informers—Muhammad Mishri son of Lal Din of Lam Pukherni, Muhammad Mishri son of Nek Muhammad of Lam Lehra, and Noor Hussain son of Muhammad Mishri of Lam Lehra in Nowshehra tehsil of Rajouri district also identified the graves. 

DDC Rajouri, Pervez Malik said the investigation would be completed soon. Malik further said that some more formalities are yet to be completed before the bodies would be exhumed in presence of forensic experts for DNA sampling. 
WOMAN CONSTABLE’S BODY EXHUMED

SRINAGAR, March 10: The Jammu and Kashmir police exhumed a body for conducting a DNA test to ascertain whether it belonged to police constable Neelofar who went missing under mysterious circumstances last year.

After expose of fake encounter killings in Ganderbal area, state police have started investigations into the mysterious death of the woman constable. The body of Neelofar was fished out from the Dal Lake on February 2 last year.

‘‘We have already taken samples of the mother of Neelofar for DNA tests,’’ Senior Superintendent of Police (SSP) Syed Mujtaba said, adding that we want to match the DNA of the exhumed body with the Neelofar’s mother. However, he said, it was a normal investigation.

‘‘If the DNA does not match with Neelofar’s mother it will be then matched with the relatives of other people who went missing in the valley,’’ the SSP said.

Neelofar, a resident of Zaldagar, was posted in the cantonment area. However, one day she disappeared and her body was fished out of the Dal Lake and buried at Dalgate graveyard last year.

POONCH FAMILY MOVES SHRC

Man Killed In Custody In 1993

RAJOURI, March 18: Having failed to find succour from official quarters, family of Master Mumtaz Ahmed Sheikh who was allegedly killed in police custody has approached State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) seeking its intervention and assurance that justice would be delivered by bringing the alleged killers to book. 

They have failed to find space for their genuine grievances in the assurances of the state government. They say that enquiry commissions have hardly convicted anyone. Instead, they say that these commissions have compounded the problems of the common man by impeding the deliverance of justice. The family which lives at village Loran in border district Poonch has appealed to the State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) through a registered letter to intervene into the case and get the justice done. 

"For the past thirteen years we have been moving from pillar to post to get the killers of Mumtaz exposed but failed as the persons responsible for the killing of my brother occupy influential postings in the state government, they are in political parties and have a say everywhere", said Bashir Ahmed Sheikh (55) elder brother of late Mumtaz adding that now he has written to state and National Human Rights Commission for justice. 

According to brother of Mumtaz, on September 14, 1993 his younger brother Master Mumtaz (then 35) was picked up by an army party in broad day light from a local school where he was posted. And on September 17, 1993, dead body of Mumtaz was handed over to the family members through police station Loran with instructions from the police to bury it immediately. He stresses that the body had clear torture marks which has been confirmed by the postmortem report. 

Bashir says that he is convinced that his brother was not killed in army custody. "He was killed in police custody. The army authorities had told us that they had handed over Mumtaz to police after some questioning on September 15 against a proper receipt," added the brother of Mumtaz. He said that despite repeated requests to the police to register an FIR, the same was not registered. "How could a killer lodge an FIR against himself, they were reluctant till last moment," says Bashir. 

He stated that the same police officers are the main hurdle in the investigations of the case. "The findings of the enquiry commission constituted by the government headed by the then Assistant Commissioner Revenue (Poonch) Bashir Ahmed Runyal clearly indicted the police officers, but nothing has come out so far," added Bashir. 

Bashir adds that FIR filed by the police at that time says that Mumtaz died of jumping from a hill where he was taken for recovery of arms and ammunition. "But how could a hand cuffed man who was labeled as a militant set free to jump," maintains Bashir.

 Bashir stressed that when he tried to jump and escape why police or army didn't fire at him. Bashir also alleges that his brother was killed in police custody. "We approached the then DSP headquarters (Poonch) Muneer Khan and then SSP (Poonch) MK Mohanty but both of them refused to register our case", he said.

"I have no money to fight for justice through any other forum. I also appeal to Chief Justice of Jammu and Kashmir High Court to treat my brother's case as PIL and give us justice, in case the commission fails, I would have rush to some other doors for justice", pleads Bashir.
VALLEY’S YOUNGEST MISSING IN CUSTODY STILL UNTRACEABLE
Government says he was killed; family demands body
SRINAGAR, March 7: Muhammad Iqbal Shah holds an unenviable distinction in the valley of woes: he was 14 when BSF soldiers arrested him, never to return. Thus, he is the youngest among thousands of Kashmiris who disappeared in custody.
Iqbal, a student of Wagoora, Baramulla was working hard to pass his matriculation examination when troops of 163 battalion of paramilitary Border Security Force arrested him on March 13, 1995. “He was brutally tortured and all our attempts to rescue him proved futile,” his father Muhammad Yousuf said. 
Though troops released his two classmates who were arrested a day before him, but there was no trace of Iqbal. The family approached the BSF camp but they denied his arrest. 
“The assurances of the then Senior Superintendent of Police Muneer Khan, Deputy Commissioner and Lt. Gen M A Zaki, advisor to Governor, too proved futile,” Yousuf said. 
Shattered, the family filed a Habeas Corpus petition in the High Court for locating the Iqbal’s whereabouts. On July 16, 1996, it directed the District and Sessions Judge Baramulla to hold an inquiry. 
After receiving the report, which confirmed the arrest of Iqbal, the Court finally disposed off the case on April 6, 1999, with the direction to conduct an investigation and conclude the same in accordance with the law. 
On Court directions a case under FIR no 88/99 under sections 346 RPC was registered at Police Station Baramulla.  
Acting on court directions, District Magistrate Baramulla formed a four-member committee comprising Additional District Magistrate Baramulla as its Chairman, Deputy Superintendent of Police, Baramulla, Tehsildar and SHO Police Station, Baramulla as members. 
“During the course of investigation all the legal formalities were completed, statements of witnesses were recorded and it was established that M C Heldar Deputy Commandant and J N Singh Assistant Commandant of 163 Battalion BSF are involved in the case and offence Sec 346 RPC (abduction) has been proved against them,” the committee in its report said. 

The Committee quoting a report of Director General of Police addressed to Principal Secretary on September 8, 2000 said, “On March 1995 personnel of BSF’s 163 battalion raided the house of Muhammad Iqbal, Muhammad Ibrahim and Ghulam Mohiuddin Mir of Wagoora. All of them were ruthlessly beaten in BSF vehicles towards Anantnag (Islamabad). Two of them namely Muhammad Ibrahim and Ghulam Muhammad were left in serious condition at unknown places whereas whereabouts of Muhammad Iqbal were not known.”

“After taking into consideration all aspects and reports received from different headquarters, we reached at the conclusion that Muhammad Iqbal Shah son of Muhammad Yousuf Shah of Wagoora, who was a student of 10th class, is presumed to be killed and his dead body has been disposed off somewhere,” the report said.

“Despite the declaration that my son was killed by the BSF men, neither has his body been handed over to me nor the accused punished,” his father said. 

“We have suffered enough for the past seven years, now we want justice,” he said. 
WIDOW OR HALF-WIDOW, TASLEEMA’S DILEMMA CONTINUES

SRINAGAR, March 4: Tasleema, 35, is one of the hundreds of unfortunate women whose husbands went missing in custody of various security agencies in the past 17 years in the Valley. 

 
Mother of three, her husband Muhammad Afzal Shah of Kulgam, Islamabad (Anantnag) was allegedly picked up by paramilitary Border Security Force’s 199 battalion from his rented accommodation at Khonakhan, Dalgate, Srinagar , where he was an Imam of a mosque, on April 26, 1997.

Recounting the fateful day, Tasleema said, “Some persons in army uniform barged into our room and dragged Afzal. I pleaded them to leave him but they pushed me inside the room and bolted the door.” 

Next day, local residents staged demonstrations and approached Nehru Park Police Post. Tasleema, with the locals, searched Afzal unsuccessfully in camps and interrogations centres. 

“We spotted one of his leather slippers at Rajbagh bridge. Some houseboat owners living nearby told us that on April 26 night some vehicles stopped on the bridge. They said they heard a loud noise in the river as if something was thrown into it,” she said. “But despite search we could not locate his body,” she added. 

Finally, she filed a Habeas Corpus petition in court demanding Afzal’s whereabouts. The court issued notices to state government and all the security agencies, including BSF, Director General of Police, General Officer Commanding 56 APO, SSPs of Special Operations Group, CID and CIK for ascertaining Afzal’s whereabouts. 

After the agencies failed to locate Afzal, the court directed the District and Sessions Judge to probe the matter. 

The judge, after examining the witnesses, said in his report “all that they have disposed is that some persons wearing Army uniforms came and picked up Muhammad Afzal.” 

The court examined RK Yadav, Assistant Commandant 199 bn BSF, BS Sharan Deputy Commandant 88 BSF, Om Prakash and Vinod Paroh, Assistant Commandants, as witnesses. “All these BSF officers have on the basis of record categorically denied that any person of the name of Muhammad Afzal Shah was taken into custody by the BSF.”

“From the evidence on file, it cannot be specifically inferred that he was arrested by BSF only. Uniforms are worn by all types of security forces, which include BSF. However, it is established beyond doubt that Muhammad Afzal was taken into custody by the forces about which local people approached the Nehru Park Police Post,” the judge said.

The High Court disposed off the petition with the direction to SHO Nehru Park to file a FIR and investigate the case. Despite registration of an abduction case against “unknown” security agencies in Afzal’s whereabouts are not known. 

“Troops shattered my life. My children keep asking for their father,” said Tasleema. Pointing towards her children Ishfaq, 14, Saima, 12, and Uzma 10, Tasleema said, “Their childhood and future has been snatched.” 

“After Afzal’s arrest, my in-laws asked me and my children to leave the house. All our resources have exhausted in Afzal’s search,” she said, “We are ruined.” 

Tasleema said many a time she thought of re-marrying for the sake of her children, but gave up the idea as “I loved my husband very much. If he has been killed in a fake encounter like many missing persons, still I will search for his grave and fight to get the accused punished.” 

HOPES OF MISSING YOUTHS SURVIVAL ALIVE

March 18: Ghulam Hassan Koka's 22 year old son, Mohammad Ashraf Koka disappeared on October 27, 2001. The family pleads that Ashraf was picked up by 10 BN ITBP (Indo-Tibetan Border Police) camp Verinag during midnight. 

"They came to our house in search of a Numberdar (village head), who used to be my father but that time he wasn't alive. They picked him up for questioning and said that he would be released soon. We, however, impatiently wait for that day," said Hassan.

Revealing further details about his son, Hassan said that Ashraf worked in Sub Judge Court, Bijbehara as Junior Assistant. "He had just put in 5 years and 4 months in the service when he was picked up by the said agency. Later they denied that my son was in their custody. When I went to the police station to lodge an FIR (First Information Report), they did that but mentioned "unknown" in FIR when I very clearly told them about 10 BN ITBP. Such is the situation we live with and there is nobody to listen to our pleas," Hassan added. 

Pleading the innocence of his son, Hassan said, "My son was not affiliated with any party or whatsoever but I do not know what happened and why his whereabouts are not made known. He was innocent and did not have any such connections that could raise doubts in our minds". 

In yet another incident, Abdul Hamid Dar, a tailor by profession and a resident of Balliharan Gulistan, Baramulla was whisked away by 28 RR (Rashtriya Rifles) Sheeri camp. His father, Ghulam Mohammad Dar mentioned that 28 RR said that they would release him after questioning but that did not happen.

Father of three daughters, Hamid was enjoying food at the time when he was picked up by 28 RR. Hamid's wife left for heavenly abode after his arrest. Dar's another son, Abdul Majid Dar died in an accident at Ramban-Jammu. He too is survived by three children. Dar looks after the young grand-children now. 

Resident of Malapora-Sheeri in district Baramulla, Ghulam Ahmad Rather's son disappeared some 16 years ago. "A college student, he disappeared in 1991. He left for his college and never returned. Though, we searched for him every where; went to the office of the Deputy Commissioner and the Superintendent of Police, approached every police station we could but were rendered clueless," Rather said. 

Later Rather's family somehow got the information that he was killed in a mine blast. "We went to see the dead body but his face was mutilated and he could not be identified, some how his clothes matched with our missing son. I did not muster the courage to go to that place. My other son went there. Only Almighty knows the truth," opined Rather. 

With a spark of hope in his eyes, the old man wished the inquiry to be set up to look into this case as well as the other cases of disappearances so that justice is delivered to them at the earliest.
JK POLICE GIVES CLEAN CHIT TO ARRESTED KASHMIRI YOUTH

SRINAGAR, March 7: Jammu and Kashmir Police has given a clean chit to three Kashmiri businessmen who were arrested by Delhi Police in New Delhi last month on the charges of being militants, news reports said.

Three Kashmiri youths, Bashir Ahmed Panoo son of Abdul Gani of Mahrajpora Sopore, Abdul Hameed Baba son of Abdul Ahad of Magraypora and Fayaz Ahmed Lone of Kupwara were arrested at Connaught Place on February 5. 

Delhi Police had claimed that the trio was arrested after a shootout there. It had also claimed that they had come to meet a Pakistani militant Abdul Gaffoor. Delhi police had claimed that explosives were recovered from their possession.

“On February 12 Delhi Police wrote a letter to Jammu and Kashmir Police seeking the antecedents of the arrested persons,” the news reports said, adding, “Two days before Jammu and Kashmir Police sent a detailed report to Delhi Police stating that the trio has a clean record. Neither they have been arrested during past 17 years nor have they have been interrogated on any occasion.”

The news reports further said that in it’s report Jammu and Kashmir Police said that Bashir Ahmed and Abdul Hameed are fruit merchants and both of them own cloth shops in Sopore bus stand, whereas Fayaz Ahmed Lone is a radio mechanic and a shawl vendor, who visits New Delhi, Himachal Pradesh and Uttar Pradesh during winters to sell shawls.

GOVT AXE FALLS ON EMPLOYEES

18 TERMINATED FOR ‘MILITANT LINKS’

Jammu, March 10: Though the state government has repealed the Prevention of Terrorism Act (POTA), yet they have taken a decision much stronger than POTA by terminating 18 government officials from service with immediate effect who are allegedly involved in militancy related activities. 

Sources said that a list of at least 50 more employees is under process who are being recommended by the Home Department for termination on the same basis. 

The state cabinet, which met yesterday evening at winter capital Jammu approved the termination of 18 government officials of various department who had been found involved in militancy related activities. 

For dealing such cases earlier POTA was used to punish the guilty involved in the anti-national activities in and outside the state. Highly placed sources disclosed that the decision of terminating these employees was taken on the recommendation of home department. “The employees were taken into the custody by the police from time to time and then they were interrogated,” sources said adding that the final report recommending their termination was submitted by the Financial Commissioner (FC) Home to the government for approval. 

Sources said that government has directed the heads of the department to which the involved employees belong to issue the termination order with immediate effect. 

A doctor from SKIMS, two lecturers, two Executive Engineers and one junior engineer, two masters are among the 18 officials who lost their job after being found involved in militancy related incidents. 

The removed employees are: 

Abdul Latief Bhat, teacher posted at High School Bassan Mahore of Udhampur District.

Master Kabir Din teacher at High Secondary School Lathoong Surankote Poonch.

Masarat Hayat Nursing Orderly at CMO office Poonch. 

Muhammad Sultan Shah son of Ghulam Muhi-ud-Din of Kaloosa Bandipura, Lecturer in Kashmir University. 

Farooq Ahmad Junior Engineer (JE) Mechanical Division PHE Department Bijbehara.

Riyaz Ahmed alias Handoo, alias Pervez Darvesh son of Ghulam Mohammad of Naid Kadal of Srinagar, a Cashier cum clerk in JK Bank. 

Altaf Hussain Mir son of Abdul Rehman of Rajpura, at present 220 Garden Lane Chanpora Srinagar, Cashier cum Clerk in State Bank of India. 

Nazir Ahmed Jan son of Ghulam Mohammad Jan of Bota Shah Mohhla an Executive Engineer STD Bemina PDD. 

Ghulam Rasool Hajam, son of Abdul Salam Hajam of Manigam Ganderbal Srinagar, an ReT Teacher in education department. 

Abdul Rashid Lone helper in PDD department in Varmul Division.

Riyaz Ahmed Tali line man in PDD in Tulkhum Bijbehara. 

Constable Ghulam Mohammad Driver in Traffic Department Kashmir. 

Mohammad Ashraf Batt Driver in SIDCO Rajbagh Srinagar. 

Dr. Akram Hussain Bijili, posted at SKIMS Srinagar. 

Mohammad Sharief Najar, Driver State Motar Garrage Srinager. 

Ghulam Nabi Mir, Lecturer.

Irshad Ahmed, Junior Engineer PHE Kishtwar. 

POLICE HUSHING UP MURDER ALLEGES FAMILY

March 2: More than two years have passed and justice is eluding the family, whose son Ali Mohammad Akhoon - a real estate dealer- was murdered on October 14, 2004 in his home by some unknown persons. The family members blame Akhoon's business mates for the murder, but police finds no evidence and declares the case as a blind murder. 

The victim's family members say that during the intervening night of October 14 and 15, 2004 Akhoon was staying in his separate home at Arabal-Shalimar along with his friend and business partner Muzaffar Ahmad Dar. Next morning his fellow real estate dealer Abdul Gani Rather rang up Akhoon but when these was answer he rushed to house to find him dead with his throat slit with a knife. Rather called Dar and the duo inform police and lodge an FIR in the police station Harwan. Later, the family members of Akhoon who were living in another house reached the police station to collect the dead body. 

But the victim’s family members saw something fishy in the manner Dar and Rather acted after the murder of Akhon. 

The dejected family of Akhoon's seeks justice. "We want that the culprits should be brought to book. Why is police not doing anything in this matter," questions Qasim with a sense of dismay. Qasim and the rest of the family members opine that their anger is justified, as after two years police has come to a conclusion that the murder is "blind murder". This, they believe, is nothing other than a "lame excuse". 

Qasim observes that they have reasons to be skeptical about the role of police in the murder. He says that the then SHO Harwan police station used to dodge them all these years. "I have every kind of apprehension that police has provided shadow to the culprits. 

DOODIPORA PROBE WITNESSES PRESSURIZED
March 2: The inquiry commission probing the Doodipora, Kupwara, firing incident on March 1 recorded statements of 14 eyewitnesses of the killing of four boys.

One of the eyewitnesses of the February 22, 2005 killings was an 8th class student. “The eyewitnesses unanimously stated that the soldiers of 33 Rashtriya Rifles (blamed for killing the boys who were playing cricket) had made the villagers lives a hell.”

“We were pressurized not to appear before the inquiry commission. Six relatives of the deceased boys were arrested two months ago and asked not to record their statements,” told the villagers.

ARREST OF MILITANT’S KIN SPARKS PROTESTS

March 8: Residents of Bijbehara staged a massive protest demonstration at Khanabal in south Kashmir against the arrest of two brothers-in- law and a sister of a Hizbul-Mujahideen militant by the personnel from Special Operations Group (SOG) of Police. 

According to news reports, SOG men raided the house of the Hizb militant Javed Ahmed Lone son of Muhammad Razman on March 7Wednesday night and arrested his sister Nasreena and the two brothers-in-law of Javed; Muhammad Ayub Lone and Muhammad Ashraf son of Abdur Rahman Lone.

Nasreena was set free after sometime but the SOG men took Ayub and Ashr along, the reports said adding, as soon as the news of the arrest spread in the area next morning people took to the roads and staged a massive demonstration. 

Later they staged a sit-in outside the office of Senior Superintendent of Police Islamabad (Anantnag) near Khanabal demanding the immediate release of the arrested persons. Protester tried entering the SSP office, however cops deployed there resorted to baton charge and dispersed them.

“Nocturnal raids and harassment from SOG has become a routine. We are being punished for Javed being a militant,” told Ghulam Mohiudin Lone, a relative of Javed.

 Mohiudin said, “Nasreena was tortured during the detention”. However, SSP Islamabad (Anantnag), Abdul Gani Mir denied that Nasreena was tortured in custody. “We have recovered the mobile phone of Javed from Nasreena’s possession and she was set free after questioning. Other two men are being questioned and investigations are on, “said SSP. 

1 KILLED, 7 HURT IN IED EXPLOSION

BARAMULLA, March 16: One person was killed and seven others injured when an Improvised Explosive Device (IED) exploded on Friday (March 16) afternoon.

 
Locals said that an Improvised Explosive Device (IED) planted near Baramulla-Uri bus stand in a handcart went off when an army convoy was passing from there. 

In the explosion, a pedestrian identified as Ghulam Nabi Bhat son of Abdul Ahad Bhat of Batingo, Sopore died on the spot whereas seven others were injured. The injured were rushed to the hospital. 

 “The impact of the blast was such that the window panes of many houses were shattered and more than twelve vehicles were damaged,” the locals said.  

74 GOVT BUILDINGS UNDER ARMY OCCUPATION
OVER 12,000 KANALS OF LAND IN DODA UNDER SEIGE
March 9: Both official and unofficial sources reveal that thousands of kanals of land in district Doda are under the occupation of army which also includes illegal occupations. Also, 74 buildings of different government departments including 14 buildings of Education Department and four buildings of Tourism Department are under the use of security forces in the district. 

Official sources say that there are 12181.09 Kanals of land under the occupation of army in Doda district which also includes 981.1 Kanals illegally occupied by them. The break up of the illegally occupied land, as per the official sources, is 90 Kanals in Kishtward Tehsil; 329.1 Kanals in Doda; 198.19 Kanals in Ramban; 347.1 Kanals Banihal and 16 Kanals in Gundu. So far, rent of Rs 73890 against the land measuring 119.05 Kanals has been paid to the owners in Tehsil Ramban and Tehsil Banihal. 

The buildings of different departments occupied by the army in the district include: 19 buildings of Public Works Department (PWD); four buildings of Tourism department; 10 buildings of Rural Development Department; 14 buildings of education department (one Higher Secondary School in Bhagwa-Doda has partially been vacated); six buildings of Forest Department; one building of Agriculture department; seven buildings of Sheep Husbandry department; two buildings of Mechanical Department; two buildings of Irrigation Department; two buildings of Planning Department; three buildings of Power Development Department; two buildings of PHE department; one building of Motor Garages and one building of All India Radio (partially). 

According to official sources the payment of about 115 cases in respect of land/ houses occupied by the security forces in the district, is pending with the Estates Officer Northern Command (EONC). Though only 5.17 Kanals of horticultural land has been shown under the occupation of security forces in Darmand near Batote and Matra near Ramban, unofficial sources informed that hundreds of Kanals of land and a number of private constructions have been occupied by the security forces in the district. 

Abdul Lateef Akhoon son of Ghulam Mustafa of Udhianpur-Doda claims that 10 Rashtrya Rifles has occupied his 10 Kanals of land where he used to grow maize, apricots and other fruits. "One of my houses have also been taken by them under their control_ every time I demand the rent, I am being told you will get it, but so far nothing has been given to me", complains Akhoon. 

Likewise 15 Kanals of land where Mohammad Amin son of Sarfaraz Beig resident of Udhianpur-Doda used to grow maize and had grown several walnut trees, is now under the custody of security forces. Ghulam Mustafa of the same area has passed away ever since his "five Kanals of land where occupied 16 years back, but he has not received any compensation". 

Syed Maqbool Shah of Arnora-Doda claims that he has all the documents ready for claiming rent for his 50 to 60 Kanals of land (which also includes government land), but so far nothing has been taken by him. Likewise Haji Nasrullah of Bharat-Doda alleges that his 20 Kanals of land have been forcibly occupied by the security forces. He has filed a case against the army which will be next heard in Sessions Court Doda after two weeks. "Court had directed the army to file objections if any, but it doesn't turn up", says the landowner. 

Some residents in proper Doda alleged that about 50 to 60 Kanals of land of different families has been occupied by the forces. "They are paying for houses, but not for the land", said a local resident. People in Doda further alleged that hundreds of Kanals of land are under "illegal occupation" in Bhagwa, Soyigadi, Gulhand, Dashnam, Thanala-Bhudarwah, Bhanderkote, Kishtward, Chatroo-Kishtaward, Ukhdal and Banihal. 
20 INJURED IN VIOLENT CLASHES IN PATTAN

March 5: Accusing army’s Rashtriya Rifles (RR) of shielding government gunmen involved in burglaries, the residents of Nihalpora Pattan in Baramulla district staged violent protests on March 5 and blocked the Srinagar-Baramulla highway. At least 20 people, including Station House Officer (SHO) Pattan, and five cops were injured in the clashes, reports said.

About three thousand people, including women, took to the streets at Nihalpora, and after marching through different streets they blocked the highway at Pattan. The demonstrators alleged that some government gunmen working with the RR were indulging in theft and other crimes at Nihalpora for the past 20 days.

“On March 4 night a group of robbers appeared in the Pattan market and tried to break open the locks of the shops. However, many people came out of their homes and shouted slogans against the troops,” the protesters said. They said as the robbers saw people approaching they fled away from the spot and entered into a camp of 29-RR.

Next morning, people came out on streets raising anti-India and pro-freedom slogans. They blocked the Baramulla-Srinagar highway. Police resorted to lathicharge and also fired teargas shells to disperse the demonstrators from the highway. Hundreds of vehicles were stranded on the other side of the highway.
Police later fired several rounds in the air after lathicharge and teargas shells failed to have an affect on the demonstrators.

At least 20 people, including the SHO Pattan Manzoor Ahmed Malik, sustained injuries in the clashes, reports added. 

They said the cops entered into the sub-district hospital Pattan and resorted to indiscriminate aerial firing, creating panic among the hospital staff and patients.

 “We have registered a case and started investigations. Whoever is involved in these thefts would be nabbed,” the SDPO Pattan told. 

Defence spokesman Lt. Col. A. K. Mathur said, “The army is not involved in any kind of looting as alleged.”
Meanwhile, MLA Pattan, Dr. Mustafa Kamal has expressed serious concern over what he called “looting and highhandedness of army and government gunmen in Pattan.” 

In a statement, Dr Kamal said people were raising fingers at troops and government gunmen sheltered by 29 RR. He said people allege that similar incidents have occurred in Churu, Wagub, Potkhah and Bangdose when the 29 RR was posted at Potkhah. 

In such a situation, Dr Kamal said, it becomes necessary to shift 29 RR from the area.
SUICIDES AND FRATRICIDAL KILLINGS BY TROOPS

· SOLDIER GETS LIFER FOR KILLING OFFICER

 March 2: A defence ministry spokesman said that Summary Court Martial (SCM) of the army after hearing the case recommended that soldier S C Behera of 28 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) be sentenced to death for killing his officer Lt Colonel Saket Saxena at Harwan, Srinagar on October 31, 2006. 

He said the SCM recommendation is subject to approval from the higher authorities. This will be the first case in recent past that SCM has recommended death sentence to a soldier for killing his senior.
· RR JAWAN BURNS WIFE, HIMSELF TO DEATH

 JAMMU, March 3: A Rashtriya Rifles jawan allegedly burnt his wife to death and later committed suicide by setting himself ablaze in Bhaderwah tehsil of Doda district. 

 
Official reports said RR Jawan Ranjeet Singh, who was on leave, poured kerosene over his wife Neelma Devi in the kitchen of their house in Hadal village of Bhaderwah tehsil on March 2 night and set her ablaze. 

 
Later, by pouring kerosene, Ranjeet set himself ablaze and committed suicide. Both of them were rushed to hospital where they breathed their last  


· SOLDIER COMMITS SUICIDE
March 4: An army jawan allegedly committed suicide by shooting himself with his service weapon while on duty at 5171 ASC Battalion in Udhampur early today (March 4).

Defence spokesman said Sepoy M P Mandhare Nilesh Ashok, 21, of Udhampur-based 5171 ASC (Army Services Corps) battalion while on duty shot himself with his service weapon at 5.55 AM. 

A suicide note, indicating family problems, was also recovered, he added.

· ARMY BARBER SUICIDES

March 5: An army barber identified as Ramdas shot himself dead in 32-RR camp at Doonipora Dangiwacha in north Kashmir’s Baramulla district, said official reports.
· SOLDIER SUICIDES 

March 7: A CRPF head constable Krishen Singh, a resident of Jammu, of 141 CRPF battalion shot himself dead by a weapon of another jawan at Kakpora Pulwama in south Kashmir. 

· BSF PERSONNEL SHOOTS COLLEAGUE  

March 8: A Border Security Force (BSF) trooper shot dead his colleague after an altercation ensued between the duo in their camp at Kupwara on March 7 night. According to the police, the deceased has been identified as Navtej Singh of 81 Bn. 

· CRPF PERSONNEL SUICIDES

March 22: A Central reserve Police Force (CRPF) personnel of B-Coy BN committed suicide by shooting himself with his service rifle at Peerbagh, Hyderpora. 

Police identified the dead trooper as SS Aaday.  

· ARMY PERSONNEL SUICIDES
March 27: An army trooper shot himself dead by using his service rifle in highly fortified Badami Bagh cantonment. 

The deceased was identified as Suran Singh No. 10197073 of 112 TA Dogra Regiment.   

OFFICIAL STATEMENTS

· NO TROOPS WITHDRAWAL FOR NOW: AZAD

KOKERNAG, March 5: Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad said the troops would be sent back to barracks as soon as peace is restored in the Valley. 

 
“As soon as the peace returns, 1988 position of the security forces would be restored,” Azad told. 
· DECLINE IN MILITANT INCIDENTS IN JK: UNION HOME MINISTER 

March 7: Union minister of state for home Sriprakash Jaiswal said on March 7 in Rajya Sabha at New Delhi that there has been decrease in militant related incidents in Jammu and Kashmir during last three years.

· 42,000 KILLED IN 17 YEARS
March 26: More than 42,000 people, half of them militants, were killed in violence in Jammu and Kashmir since the eruption of militancy 17 years ago, the State Government said. 

A total of 42,147 people, including 20,647 militants and 5,024 security personnel, were killed in the State between January 1990 and the middle of February 2007, according to a fact-sheet issued by the police. 

Violence left 33,885 people, including 12,124 security personnel and 21,659 civilians, injured during the same period in the State, the report said. 

The fact-sheet shoots down claims of all separatist groups as well as mainstream parties in the state, who say that over one lakh people lost their lives in militancy. 

The report said 11,221 civilians were killed by militants and another 1,678 lost their lives in explosions caused by hurling of grenades and detonating of improvised explosive devices, while 173 civilians were killed when they were caught in group clashes between the militants. 

A total of 3,404 civilians were killed in cross-firing incidents between security forces and militants in the State, the report said. 

However, the fact-sheet revealed that the incidents of violence had gone down considerably over the years particularly after thaw in relations between New Delhi and Islamabad in the wake of the composite dialogue process started by the two countries. 

The highest number of 1,438 civilians were killed in 1996, the year when elections were held after a gap of seven years in the State, the report said. 

While the highest number of 3,602 Army and other paramilitary personnel lost their lives fighting militants, Jammu and Kashmir police lost 537 personnel since January 1990. As many as 438 Special Police Officers engaged by police in the counter-insurgency operations were also killed, the report said. 

It said 127 Village Defence Committee members were killed fighting the militants in the State. 

The highest number of 613 security personnel were killed in a single year in 2001. The number dropped to 182 in 2006, the report said. 

About the militant casualties, the report said 20,073 ultras were killed by security forces, while 574 others died in group clashes among various militant groups. 

The highest number of 2,024 militants were killed in 2001, it said adding only 583 militants were killed in 2006. 

As many as 110 militants were killed in groups clashes in 1994, when militancy was at its peak in the State. 

The report said 3,877 militants surrendered so far with 1996 accounting for the highest number of 655 ultras joining the mainstream. 

As per the fact-sheet, 18,600 people were arrested during anti-militant operations but most of them were released on court orders, recommendations of screening committees and human rights cells. However, 365 people were still under judicial custody. 

In addition, 497 people are detained under Public Safety Act. While 413 are in State jails, 84 are under detention in jails outside the State, the report said. 

· ONLY FIVE CUSTODIAL KILLINGS DURING MY TENURE: AZAD
March 28: The Jammu & Kashmir Chief Minister, Ghulam Nabi Azad pegged the number of custodial killings at five in the state since he took over reins. 


 Azad said the number of custodial killings during his tenure is only five. 

 
“There were only five custodial killings from the time I took over the power in the state, while before me 433 custodial killings have occurred, “ adding that all the five persons have been exhumed and that 13 police officers have been arrested following their alleged involvement in human rights violations.  

· INFILTRATION ZERO, ADMITS ARMY

March 29: Army acknowledged—first time in recent past—that infiltration of militants from across the Line of control had reached zero level.

“Infiltration has gone down to zero level, but I can’t say whether it will remain the same in coming days or not,” Lt General AS Sekhon, the Commander of Srinagar-based 15 Corps told.
NEWS IN BRIEF

· FATHER, SON SLAUGHTERED   
March 1: Unidentified gunmen slit the throats of a man and his released militant son in Jammu’s Doda district on the night of February 29. A police spokesman said unidentified gunmen slaughtered Ahmed Bakshi and his son Muhammad Amin near Kishtwar post office. Amin was a released militant, the spokesman said.

· SHEPHERD KILLED
JAMMU, March 4: Suspected militants on March 3 evening shot dead a shepherd in Reasi tehsil of district Udhampur district. 

 
Official reports said that militants killed a shepherd in the forest area near Reasi on March 3 evening. The deceased has been identified as Mohammad Yousuf of Reasi.

 
Police said that he was grazing the cattle in the forest area when militants shot him.

· BODY RECOVERED

March 6: Police in Uri has recovered the body of a man from river Jhelum. According to police, the deceased has been identified as Jamal-ud-Din Kalra son of Alif-ud-Din Kalra of Baghna, Uri. The deceased had been missing from February 28. Police has registered a case.


CHRONOLOGY OF INCIDENTS IN THE MONTH OF MARCH 2007

March 1: Two HM militants were killed in encounter while slaughtered dead bodies of a surrendered militant and his father were recovered from Kishtwar. 

March 2: No incident of killing reported from any part of the state.

March 3: Dead body of a civilian pumped with bullets recovered from Udhampure while an army barber committed suicide at Doonipora, Dangiwacha, Baramulla. 

March 4: One shepherd was killed; however, a trooper killed his wife and later ends his own life also. 

March 5: One LeT militant and a boy was killed in violence related incidents in the state. 

March 6: Police in Uri recovered body of a man went missing since 28 Feb 2007. The deceased was identified as Jamal-ud-Din Kalra of Baghna, Baramulla.

March 7: Two HuM militants were killed in a gunfight in Kupwara while a CRPF personnel committed suicide. 

March 8: Three militants including two of LeT were killed in an encounter while police claimed that in an ambush assault by militants at Chadigam, Lolab many troopers were killed.  A CRPF trooper committed suicide and a BSF personnel was shot dead by his colleague. 

March 9: One HM militant killed in an encounter at Anantnag. 
March 10: One CRPF personnel and two civilians were killed in violence related incidents in the state. 

March 11: Police claimed that army killed three militants in Tral where people accused army of killing two civilians without any provocation. 

March 12: No incident of violence reported from any part of the state. 

March 13: Village Defence Committee Member’s daughter got killed in accidental fire at village Varnal in Ramsu area of Banihal.

March 14: An unidentified dead body was recovered from Barsoo, Awantipora.

March 15: A police constable was shot dead by militants at Pinjari area of Kishtwar. 

March 16: One civilian killed in an IED explosion in Uri, Baramulla.  

March 17: One civilian and one BSF soldier were killed in separate incidents of explosions. 

March 18: One HM militant was killed in an encounter with troops in Kokernag, Anantnag. 

March 19: Four militants including two HuM militants were killed in violence related incidents while an army trooper killed his colleague after a clash.   

March 20: Two soldiers killed in encounter with troops in Kupwara.  

March 21: An army porter injured when he accidentally stepped over anti personnel mine in the forward area of Balakote sector in Rajouri.

March 22: One army trooper, succumbed to his injuries he received in a gunfight on March 21 while a CRPF trooper committed suicide and police recovered unidentified dead body from Sumbal. 

March 23: One 16-year-old girl was shot dead by unknown gunman at Shopian. 

March 24: One person injured in violence related incident in valley.

March 25: Dead body of a kidnapped SPO was recovered from the open fields of village Nowpora, Awantipora.

March 26: One HM militant was killed in an encounter with troops in Liganni Kharog in Udhampur district. 

March 27: Body of an unidentified militant was found in Kupwara while an army soldier end his life by committing suicide. 

March 28: One militant was killed in an encounter in Mendhar, Poonch while a beheaded dead body of a civilian was recovered from Argi in Rajouri district.  

March 29: No incident of killing reported from any part of the state.
March 30: One army Subedar and five labourers of minority community were killed in separate incidents of violence.  

March 31: One LeT militant was killed in an encounter at Kither in Kishtwar. 
KILLINGS IN THE MONTH OF MARCH 2007

	Date
	Troops
	Militants
	Civilians
	Others

	March 1
	-
	2
	1
	1 surrendered militant 

	March 2
	-
	-
	-
	-

	March 3
	1
	-
	1
	-

	March 4
	1
	-
	2
	-

	March 5
	-
	1
	1
	-

	March 6
	-
	-
	-
	1 dead body recovered 

	March 7
	1
	2
	-
	-

	March 8
	2
	3
	-
	-

	March 9
	-
	1
	-
	-

	March 10
	1
	2
	-
	-

	March 11
	-
	1
	2
	-

	March 12
	-
	-
	-
	-

	March 13
	-
	-
	1
	-

	March 14
	-
	-
	-
	1 unidentified dead body recovered 

	March 15
	1
	-
	-
	-

	March 16
	-
	-
	1
	-

	March 17
	1
	-
	1
	-

	March 18
	-
	1
	-
	-

	March 19
	1
	4
	-
	-

	March 20
	2
	-
	-
	-

	March 21
	-
	-
	-
	1 army porter

	March 22
	2
	-
	-
	1 unidentified dead body recovered 

	March 23
	-
	-
	1
	-

	March 24
	-
	-
	-
	-

	March 25
	1
	-
	-
	-

	March 26
	1
	-
	-
	-

	March 27
	1
	1
	-
	-

	March 28
	-
	1
	1
	-

	March 29
	-
	-
	-
	-

	March 30
	1
	-
	5
	-

	March 31
	-
	1
	-
	-

	Total 
	17
	20
	17
	5

	                                                                       Grand Total : 59


	Date
	EJK/ CK
	Women
	Children
	Alleged disappearance

	March 05
	-
	-
	1
	-

	March 13
	-
	-
	1
	-

	March 23
	-
	-
	1
	-

	Total 
	-
	-
	3
	-



WOMEN – CHILDREN KILLED


March 1: Police recovered the body of Parveena Akhtar, daughter of Din Muhammad Khatana from Ganderbal, the official spokesman said. 


March 5: A boy was killed and a minor girl injured in a grenade explosion in Jammu’s Doda district, police said. A police spokesman said that Sajad Ahmad, 8, son of Muhammad Iqbal was killed when unknown persons lobbed a grenade on the house of Ghulam Mohiuddin son of Muhammad Ramzan at Kushal Chatroo.


March 13: Village Defence Committee Member’s daughter killed in accidental fire at village Varnal in Ramsu area of Banihal.


The deceased was identified as Reeta Devi, 17, daughter of  Sahu Ram of Varnal.  


March 23: Unidentified gunman shot dead a girl of 10th class Gulshan Akthar, 16, daughter of Farooq Ahmad Wani at Harmain Shopian. The reason of her killing could not be established.   
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